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I. Facts 

In 2013 a CHINS Petition was filed on behalf of BJC, the then 15 year old 

son of Marla Coyle, who helped him with this Petition and appeal. RP 4 & 10. 

In that CHINS case the Respondent Mr. Goins, a CPS counselor, was assigned 

by the Superior Court to assist BJC with the issues presented in that Petition. RP 

10. Mr. Goins had been a counselor working for CPS for approximately 15 

years. RP 9. He also had his own private practice with associates working for 

him. RP 15. 

After being assigned to BJC's case Mr. Goins had him come to his private 

counseling center for more counseling. RP 11, CP 1-7. This conflict of interest 

was disclosed to the State DSHS CPS Ombudsman and Mr. Goins was 

disciplined for this self-referral. RP 10. This conflict was not the subject of this 

particular case but was germane to the concerns the Petitioner and his mother 

had about Mr. Goins seemingly overwhelming personal interest in BJC. The 

more important and relevant facts relate to allegations by BJC about Mr. Goins' 

sexual advances toward BJC. RP 4, 7, 11, 15 & 23, CP 1-7. 

After being assigned to BJC's CHINS case, Mr. Goins made sexual 

advances toward BJC. RP 8 & 34; CP 1-7. According to BJC's Petition, Mr. 

Goins, did such things as caress his neck and face in a sexual manner, and 

showed up randomly at places he was known to go, such as a particular 

Starbucks he frequented and a doctor's office visit for BJC. RP 15-16 & 33, CP 

1-7. However, of most importance, BJC alleged that after the CHINS Petition 

was dismissed, Mr. Goins followed him into the men's bathroom at the 
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courthouse, and while BJC was unzipping his pants, Mr. Goins lifted himself 

over the stall wall where BJC was, and ordered him to show him his genitals. PR 

8-9, CP 1-7. BJC's Petition alleged the following: 

"In August BJC [sic} was at the courthouse on 8116114 & 
Mr. Goins followed him into the restroom he popped his head 
over the stall & asked to see his penis" 

In Summary, the Petition alleged the following "grooming" and/or sexual conduct by 

Mr. Goins, as follows: (See CP 1-7.) 

1. Mr. Goins placed BJC in his own treatment center for 

therapy/counseling without state permission; 

2. Mr. Goins was released from the services of CPS after placing 

BJC in his own clinic; 

3. BJC expressed concern that Mr. Goins was gay and this made him 

uncomfortable; 

4. After being released from CPS services and in particular on 

BJC 's CHINS case, Mr. Goins showed up at a medical urological 

appointment for BJC without permission. BJC asked him to leave 

three times but he did not until the doctor entered the room; 

5. BJC was at the Gonzaga Campus cafeteria getting coffee and Mr. 

Goins showed up to talk with BJC. At that time Mr. Goins asked 

BJC if he would be interested in getting "into things wl another 

man", and claimed it would not be homosexual, it would just be 

experimenting. BJC said no he "liked girls"; 

6. On one occasion Mr. Goins was caressing BJC 's face & the back 

of his head while meeting with him; 

7. On another occasion Mr. Goins kissed BJC 's forehead during a 

meeting; 
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8. BJC 's mother called the police because of this touching and 

reported this unwanted and sexual conduct, giving the police 

report number in BJC 's Petition; 

9. BJC feared that Mr. Goins was going to "kill him" or "kidnap 

him" and was very specific about all the details of what Mr. Goins 

said and did to him, to his mother; 

10. Ms. Coyle asked her son if he wanted a restraining order against 

Mr. Goins and he said he did. So she went to court with him to 

Superior Court, filed a Petition with him, and obtained an exparte 

order against Mr. Goins based on her son's allegations. CP 12-14 

11. At the hearing in exparte. Ms. Coyle was assigned as BJC's GAL 

and service was arranged. 

At the hearing on the CHINS Petition, and although clearly irrelevant to the 

sexual conduct and advances of Mr. Goins, the Respondent's counsel focused on 

BJC's mother and findings against her in a former dismissed CHINS. RP 26-29. 

Ms. Goins argued that this was irrelevant and that she was just served with these 

responses just before the hearing, and she wanted a continuance. Additionally, 

Mr. Goins argued that Ms. Coyle was also close to being ordered to not file 

anything in the CHINS case because she was so involved in the litigation. RP 

43. Finally, he also indicated that BJC's mother was ordered to have a 

psychological evaluation completed in the CHINS case, and that this entire 

Petition was created because of her need to retaliate against Mr. Goins, as well 

as her propensity to litigate against other people. RP 39-45. 

To be more specific about some ofthe procedural issues, Mr. Goins' counsel 

appeared in this case over the weekend before the March 18th hearing, and 

served Ms. Coyle with a 63 page declaration the Saturday before the Tuesday 

3 



hearing date. CP 17-98, 121-124 & RP 3. Ms. Coyle brought BJC to the hearing 

to specifically testify about the details of Mr. Goins' actions, but the judge sent 

BJC out of the courtroom and refused to let him testify. RP 1-5. This seemed 

quite strange since even Mr. Goins counsel thought BJC would testify and the 

judge indicated that her petition failed because of a lack of evidence; evidence 

that Ms. Coyle felt her son could provide even more clearly than she could. RP 

6. 

At one point in the hearing the Judge went through the statute line by line 

and indicated that some of the factors did not "seem" to fit BJC's mother's 

allegations about Mr. Goins (RP 7-8), however, he continued to ignore the fact 

that BJC, the best source of this information, was available to go over the details 

of all of the incidents with the Respondent. RP 8-14. The judge basically treated 

Ms. Goins as an attorney, even though she was a lay GAL. RP 1-60. More 

particularly he redirected her several times back to the statutory criteria for this 

Petition, and many times she asked him to talk with her son to get his side of the 

story. /d. An example of this redirection was as follows: 

THE COURT: Ma'am, I've got to stop you, ma'am 
because you 're getting way off in left field. Because the issue 
--maybe that's my fault because I asked the question. 

MS. COYLE: That's okay. 
THE COURT: The issue is whether there should be a 

sexual assault no contact order, so that's what I have to 
focus on today. (RP 11). 

On another occasion Ms. Coyle went on to talk about Mr. Goins attempts to 

sexually groom her son and an attempted rebuttal to Mr. Goins attempts to paint 

her as the one creating this story, but the Judge again told her that such argument 
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was irrelevant and reminded her that this was about the factors in the statute. RP 

11-14. In spite of the fact that the Judge often redirected her back to the factors 

at RCW 7.90 to pin point what Mr. Goins did, and would not let her explain the 

precursors of the Respondent's sexual grooming, he seemed to focus on Mr. 

Goins' counsels multitude of irrelevant distractions about Ms. Coyle and other 

people. !d. For example on one occasion he asked her whether she obeyed the 

dismissed CHINS orders requiring her to obtain a mental health evaluation, and 

what she did or did not do in that other case. See RP 9-39. Her response made 

sense to this author in that she made it clear that the entire CHINS case was 

dismissed, therefore, there was no longer any requirement for a psychological, 

and was completely irrelevant to whether her son was sexually approached by 

Mr. Goins. !d. 

When Ms. Coyle tried to rebut the allegations by Mr. Goins' that she was 

somehow a bad faith litigant, she was always abruptly stopped and the Judge 

redirected her again and again. !d. She then became somewhat frustrated and 

asked why the court would not let her rebut Mr. Goins allegations if the court 

was not going to strike Mr. Goins irrelevant material as well. See e.g. RP 15 line 

6-24. The judge denied her request to strike his irrelevant exhibits and 

information about the CHINS. RP 15-16; See also RP 11-13, 50 & 57. 

When it came time for Mr. Goins counsel to argue the case, he was allowed 

to argue Ms. Coyle's reputation and past actions, intermingling that there were 

no allegations that fit the statute but never really dealing with some of the 

specific bathroom or touching episodes. RP 39- 45. The substantially irrelevant 

5 



evidence about the CHINS case, the orders therein (that were moot after the 

dismissal), and evidence about Ms. Coyle's alleged history of filing for many 

other protection orders, was allowed into the hearing. !d. Not once did the judge 

redirect Mr. Goins counsel to stick to the statutory factors as he did with Ms. 

Coyle. !d. 

Time and time again, Ms. Coyle invited the Judge to meet with BJC, to talk 

to him in chambers or on the stand, but the judge refused. See e.g. RP 64. 

Eventually the judge made his ruling on the Petition without ever talking to or 

allowing BJC to testify to more specifics. RP 65-71. He denied the Petition, 

found it was not brought in good faith, that her claim (not BJC's) was non­

meritorious and that there were no facts that were close enough to form a basis 

for the Petition. RP 71-7 5. In addition to this the judge fined her for a frivolous 

case (RP 80) in the amount of $1,200.00 and also found her to be a "vexatious 

litigant" and that the clerk should not accept any filings from her without a court 

order from himself for a period of 24 months from March 18, 2014, even though 

this really was not her Petition and she was appointed a GAL by the court. RP 

71-81. All of those orders were appealed to Division III of the Court of Appeals. 

CP 104-120. 

II. BASIS FOR REVIEW 

The Appellant filed an appeal of the ruling denying her son's request for a 

Sexual Harassment order against the Respondent. This denial was based on 

different conclusions by Division III. 
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The Court ofAppeals failed to allow the best evidence into the case via the 
teenage boy who experienced these things first hand. and instead focused on the 
mother's reputation rather than the allegations of what the Respondent did or 
did not do with BJC. 

First, the Appeals Court indicated that the trial judge was correct in allowing 

facts about this child's mother's reputation for litigious activity and a dismissed 

CHINS Petition into the court's decisions. [Parenthetically the mother assisted 

her son in filing this petition and was assigned his guardian ad litem in the case 

as indicated earlier]. Put another way, the Court did not feel that that was error 

by the judge. 

The Appeals Court also said it was appropriate for the trial court to exclude 

the subject child from court and testimony, and to substitute his mother's 

comments for his testimony since she was his "GAL". They said this even 

though they admitted that no evidence should ever be disallowed. Then, 

ironically indicated that even though the mother was the main complainant 

(from their point of view) presenting the evidence, evidence about her reputation 

and past was appropriate since it only specifically dealt with her credibility. This 

then led to the clearly contradictory decision that because the mother was not the 

actual "Petitioner" requesting the harassment orders, that it did not matter. 

However, they also implied in their ruling that she was the only source of 

information the trial judge used for BJC's Petition, and made no comment about 

the effect of these "reputation" pieces of evidence on her credibility. At no time 

did the Court of Appeals suggest anywhere in their decision that if her testimony 

was incredulous to the Judge why would he not turn to the actual source, BJC 

for clarification or corroboration with more detail. 
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The Court of Appeals felt there was no double standard used by the court 

when it allowed this clearly irrelevant and prejudicial information into the case, 

but would not allow Ms. Coyle to even make the slightest of statements about 

sexual grooming, and more detail about Mr. Goins past actions that led up to 

these sexual allegations. There is no doubt Mr. Goins presentation of this 

irrelevant information prejudiced the final decisions based on the issue of 

credibility alone, the very thing that RCW 7.90.080 intended to prevent. In fact, 

the trial court clearly tied the filing of this Petition for Sexual Harassment 

together with Ms. Coyle's reputation, distracting the issue of the case and the 

purposes of the statute. Id 

The Court of Appeals decision on the issue of the Respondent's prejudicial 
evidence. combined with the failure to allow the child's testimony was 
antithetical to the application and purposes of this statutory process in every 
way. 

RCW 7.90.080 indicates that no irrelevant and prejudicial evidence shall 

come in unless there is an indication that the trial judge has dealt with its 

relevance by a ruling first. And, although it is true that this statute allows for 

impeachment evidence to come in, the Respondent in this case never once 

brought out any evidence to impeach this child, just his mother. In other words, 

the only thing the Respondent brought forth in this case was that the mother was 

a litigious person and that is really all they provided, besides some evidence 

from the dismissed CHINS case. This clearly put in question the application of 

this statute and how the evidence was gathered by the court and goes against the 

purpose and application of RCW 7.90.080 & .090 in particular since the end 

result was to deny this child his right to a provide a complete explanation for the 
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reason for the Petition. [It should be noted that BJC met his burden of proof at 

the initial temporary hearing pursuant to RCW 7.90.090(1)(a) in that this statute 

requires the child to prove that something happened that gave rise to the 

allegations and the need for a restraining order in the first place] 

It is understood that a denial of a request to strike irrelevant evidence is 

within the trial court's discretion. See Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 

484,494, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997); Burmeister v. State Farm Ins. Co., 92 Wn.App. 

359, 365, 966 P.2d 921 (1998). However, a trial court may abuse its discretion if 

it denies a motion to strike if it applies the wrong legal standard and considers 

evidence for a purpose for which the evidence is not admissible. See Orion 

Corp. v. State, 109 Wn.2d 621, 638, 747 P.2d 1062 (1987). 

In this case, the Court of Appeals has inappropriately interpreted and 

misapplied these two statutes in particular, as well as the entire statute at RCW 

7.90 et seq. The purpose behind the exclusion of evidence that is historic and 

about the victim is certainly important to exclude since that evidence, however, 

the statute also deals with "irrelevant evidence" relating to reputation as well. 

Again the Court of Appeals interpreted that as meaning "sexual activity of the 

victim" and that is all. However, "words in statutes are to be understood in their 

ordinary and popular sense." State v. Cain, 28 Wash.App. 462, 464, 624 P.2d 

732 (1981). 

The statute does not say what the Court of Appeals says that it says, ainxw ir 

specifically does not say that "reputation" is for "sexual reputation" information 

only. Reputation, according to Black's Law Dictionary 5th Edition (1979), is 
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"how we are seen by others". For example, if the 'victim is seen as a person who 

lies about injuries sustained by others in the community that would distract the 

trier of fact away from what actually happened. It is therefore inadmissible 

under the statute and should not be let in. The key here is to have information 

that deals with the issue of whether the sexual misconduct occurred or not. 

Ironically, the judge seemed to try very hard to make this prose litigant stick 

to the "statutory factors" and that is all, but allowed 50+ pages and argument 

about her reputation, which distracted the court from getting to the bottom of 

what really happened to BJC. It was as if the judge did not want to hear from 

BJC, given his mother's reputation, which underscores the entire purposes of 

RCW 7.90.080 & .090. 

In this case, the Superior Court judge and the Court of Appeals also made it 

clear that Ms. Coyle was BJC's representative in the case and stood as his GAL, 

in his shoes to present his case to the trier of fact. There was also no question 

that she helped him with drafting the Petition. However, without the 

corroborating evidence from BJC, even in chambers, detailing what happened, 

the outcome of the case was a forgone conclusion. This conflict alone should 

move this case in the direction of an acceptance of review by this court since 

what the court did was in total conflict with the purposes of this statute. 

This case involves a significant public policy issue that should be resolved 
by the Supreme Court. 

The policy behind RCW 7.90.005 et seq is to protect children from sexual 

activity directed at them by another person, and they cannot obtain a DV order 

because of not only who is alleged to have perpetrated these actions, but because 
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they do not live with this particular Respondent. It clearly appeared that the trial 

judge and Appeals Court put the entire burden of proof on his mother to show 

injuries that rose to the level of the statutory criterion. However, the trial judge 

would not allow this teenage victim to testify even though the statute 

specifically indicates that actual physical injury does not have to be proven. See 

RCW 7.90.090. To top this the Judge allowed highly prejudicial evidence into 

court in an effort to seemingly impeach his mother for this filing when she was 

not the actual Petitioner. 

The public policy behind this act is to insure that victims have a proper day 

in court. The Act even suggests that if the Respondents are represented by an 

attorney, and the victim is not represented that the court postpone the hearing 

until an attorney can be assigned to the victim child to counter the legal abilities 

ofthe Respondents attorney. RCW 7.90.040. 

In this case, the trial judge and Appeals Court seemed to completely ignore 

the policies behind this statute and that is to protect the Petitioner from the effect 

of prejudicial irrelevant evidence at trial even though the evidence was about the 

victim's mother's reputation. This had little or no bearing on the truth of what 

happened and was allowed. Basically, the Appeals Court's ruling said that if you 

as a Respondent in these kind of cases, distract the court with evidence of the 

victim's family members, you will likely affect that witnesses credibility and the 

entire case. 

There are no cases to date specifying how the term "reputation" evidence 

should be applied in this matter. However, section .080(2) specifically advises 
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the court to be careful about evidence that may be highly prejudicial to the 

victims claim/Petition. That statute reads in part, " ... The court may not admit 

evidence under this section unless it determines at the hearing that the evidence 

is relevant and the probative value of the evidence outweighs the danger of 

unfair prejudice .... " It further suggests that it is the duty of the presenter of 

questionable evidence under this rule to first make an offer of proof, then the 

burden shifts to the court to determine if the evidence can meet this standard and 

how it should come in. None ofthis was done in this case. RP 1-60. 

Again, the clear policy behind this overall statute is to give an alleged sexual 

assault victim a forum to air their facts of why they say they were sexually 

mistreated, not make your parents, or whoever happened to help you with the 

Petition the focal point of the hearing if doing so will absolutely distract the 

purpose of the proceeding. 

As the legislature said in RCW 7.90.005 this statute is a remedy for the 

victim of sexual crimes that do not rise to the level of a crime. ld. It offers a 

simple remedy short of a DV trial or criminal charge that may be more 

complicated. The entire statute is intended to promote this goal, not allow the 

Respondent a forum for claims ofCRll sanctions against the child's parent. Nor 

is this statute to be just a smorgasbord of potential ways to handle these type of 

cases, where the court can pick and chooses to listen to the victim or not. This is 

especially true when that same judge allows prejudicial evidence in about the 

only one looking out for the child's welfare and protection, his Mom. Since the 

judge did not want to hear from the BJC, did not even let him in the court room, 
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and limited what Ms. Coyle could tell him about what was said, it totally 

circumvented this statute's purposes, which needs this Supreme Court's 

assistance. 

Further, since the initial burden of proof is on the victim, the court needs to 

allow substantial latitude in how that presentation of evidence goes forth. The 

mother pled time and time again to let her teenage son testify, which seemed to 

be necessary given the private allegations. For example, it was important how 

the boy felt about the request to be intimate with another man, and exactly what 

was said; likewise, it is important to find out BJC's clear circumstances in the 

boy's room at court where the Respondent was alleged to order that he show 

him his private parte, and how that went down; or finally the kiss on the cheek 

by Mr. Goins, wherein happened, where they were standing in relationship to 

one another, what was said, what that made the boy feel, etc. The mother was 

not there for these incidents and yes she could have been as specific as she 

wanted, but she is not a trained GAL, has not gone through any state or county 

training for that job, and was not allowed to interview Mr. Goins, as any good 

GAL could have and should have done before the hearing. 

The Court of Appeals decision in this case goes completely against the 

purposes and mandates of this statute and needs the Supreme Court's input to 

help others in the state, including judicial officers know what to do, who needs 

to testify, how this statute needs to be applied, etc. 

The mother Ms. Coyle was not the real party in interest, or the Petitioner, 
and should not have been found to have filed this Petition wrongfully. 
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Marla Coyle the mother of the victim BJC was appointed by the court to act 

as his GAL. Certainly any parent would enjoy and be proud to help their child in 

any way they could, however, this occurred after the Petition was filed and so 

she could not know or think that she would be personally liable for filing this 

Petition "on behalf of' her son. She originally did what any parent would do and 

that is she tried to protect him from someone who was clearly making sexual 

advance toward this minor. She also was not technically the Petitioner and 

although she is allowed to file this action on BJC's behalf under the statute. In 

other words this case was for her son and not her. 

Additionally, Ms. Coyle was ordered to be BJC's GAL. It is unclear which 

statute was used by the exparte commissioner to appoint BJC's mother as his 

GAL. This is vitally important, since RCW 26.44.053 indicates that a GAL shall 

be appointed in every case where there is abuse of a child and the case is 

brought via Chapter 26 or 13 RCW. However, RCW 7.90.040(5) states 

"Jurisdiction of the courts over proceedings under this chapter shall be the same 

as jurisdiction over domestic violence protection orders under RCW 

26.50.020(5)." Therefore, this must be considered an RCW 26.44.053 or RCW 

26.50.020 appointment. This is a specific appointment of a professional since 

the statute mentions that the Petitioner should not be made to "pay the fees" See 

RCW 7.90.040. Additionally since it references RCW 26.50.020 in this section, 

that section makes a clear distinction between a GAL and next friend. 

It is common knowledge that a professional GAL can testify on behalf of a 

minor child. See RCW 26.44.053; 26.50.020; and Guardian Ad Litem rule #4 
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generally. Needless to say Ms. Coyle is not and has never been a professional 

GAL. She should not have been put in the position to testify on behalf of her son 

BJC. Neither was she an attorney, so she did not know what to do in the case, 

the same as a "next friend" would not know. In actuality she was really a "next 

friend" of the court. 

When the court inquired about BJC's testimony, it should not have come in 

via his mother. The rulings in this matter on both the trial court level and the 

appeals court level conflict with all the rules and case law regarding the purpose 

and duties of a GAL in such a case. This needs to be addressed by the Supreme 

Court since it will have a chilling effect on parents who help their child file such 

Petitions. 

One such conflict deals with a GAL's immunity. If the GAL is acting as an 

arm of the court, or someone to tell them what the juvenile has said, then they have 

immunity. See Barr v, Day 124 Wn.2d 318, 879 P.2d 912 (1994). In this case Ms. 

Coyle was helping the court with her son's case and so, there is some question 

whether she was immune from a counter suit to make her a vexatious litigant. We 

request that the Supreme Court accept this case to deal with this issue as well. 

Respectfully submitted this 21st day of September 2015. 

Y-r<n~ Stenzel, WSBA # 1697 4 
1304 W. College Ave LL 
Spokane, W A 99201 
Stenz2193@comcast.net 
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STAIR or W.\SHI~·l( ~-roN 
DJ'-------·---

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III, STATE OF WASHINGTON 

In Re: 

BJC, 

Appellant/Petitioner, 

and 

NIMSHA ASIA GOINS, 

Respondent/Respondent. 

Court of Appeals No. 32418-4 

Spokane County Superior Court 
No: 14-2-00761-7 

AMENDED DECLARATION OF 
MAILING 

I, Lori Scarano, being first duly sworn upon oath deposes and says: 

That she is now and all times hereinafter mentioned was a citizen of the United States and 

a resident of the State of Washington, over the age of eighteen years; that on the 21st day of 

September 2015, affiant enclosed in an envelope a copy of the following document: Appellant's 

Petition for Review, along with a copy of this Declaration of Mailing to: 

Robert Cossey 
Attorney at Law 

902 N. Monroe Street J 

Spokane, WA 99W ~o 

Said addresses being the last known addresses of the above-named individual, and on said 

date deposited the same so addressed with postage prepaid in the United States Post Office in the 

City of Spokane, State of Washington. 

I declare under penalty of perjury pursuant to the laws ofthe State of Washington that the 

foregoing is true and correct. 
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MARLO COYLE, on behalfofB.J.C., 

Appellant, 

v. 

NIMSHA ASIA GOINS, 

Respondent. 
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) 
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) 
) 
) 

No. 32418-4-111 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

FEARING, J.- We address the superior court's authority to enter sanctions against 

a vexatious litigator. Marlo Coyle sought a sexual assault protection order against a 

Department of Social and Health Service (DSHS) case worker who evaluated a child in 

need of services (CHINS) petition of Coyle's son. The trial court denied Coyle's request 

for a protection order and declared her a vexatious litigant. In addition to appealing this 

declaration, Marlo Coyle assigns error to the trial court's admission, as exhibits, of 

previous protection petitions filed by Coyle, the trial court's refusal to require her son to 

testifY, and the trial court's construction ofRCW 7.90.010(4Xd), the sexual assault 

protection act. We affirm the superior court. 



No. 32418-4-III 
Coyle v. Goins 

FACTS 

Appellant Marlo Coyle is the mother ofB.J.C., sixteen years old in July 2013. By 

that month, B.J.C. had been the subject of four child dependency actions. During July 

2013, B.J.C. fled home. He then filed a child in need of services (CHINS) petition, 

alleging neglect and abuse by his mother. B.J.C. claimed that his mother hit him, pulled 

his hair, and threatened to shoot him and others. According to B.J.C., his mother called 

-
him derogatory names and referred to him as "an ungratefull [sic] piece of shit like [his] 

dad." Clerk's Papers (CP) at 28. In response to the petition, Coyle denied striking 

B.J.C., except ''smacking" him once to gain his attention. Upon the granting of a CHINS 

petition, the DSHS may place a child in a crisis residential center, foster family home, 

licensed group home facility, or any other suitable residence. 

DSHS Division of Children and Family Services (DCFS) assigned social worker 

and respondent, Nimsha Asia Goins (Asia Goins) to assist with B.J.C. 's CHINS petition. 

As was standard practice, Goins completed a family assessment, helped B.J.C. find a 

placement home, and referred B.J.C. for mental health counseling. Goins recommended 

to the trial court that B.J.C.'s petition be granted and the trial court concurred. 

At the time B.J.C. entered a placement home, he saw a therapist at Spokane 

Mental Health, but B.J.C. told Goins he wanted a new therapist. Goins referred B.J.C. to 

Lutheran Social Services and Spokane Therapist. B.J.C. decided to see Jeff Wirth at 

Spokane Therapist. Goins had recently begun his own private counseling practice with 
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Spokane Therapist, but he insists he did not benefit financially from referring B.J.C. to 

Spokane Therapist. 

After B.J.C. filed his CHINS petition, his mother, Marlo Coyle, filed an At-Risk-

Youth (ARY) petition alleging that B.J.C. abused drugs and alcohol, exhibited anger 

problems, and engaged in assaultive and aggressive behavior. In the petition, Coyle 

alleged that B.J.C. assaulted her, her husband, and B.J.C.'s brother. Granting of an ARY 

petition by the juvenile court allows the parent to obtain assistance and support from the 

court in main~aining the care~ custody and control of the child and to assist in the 

resolution of family conflict. We do not know if a court granted Marlo Coyle's ARY 

petition. B.J.C.'s CHINS placement lasted about seven months. 

On November 20, 2013, Marlo Coyle started a Facebook Page titled: "The Fight 

For [B.]-An End to A Corrupt System," in which she chronicled her "battle" with DCFS 

and posted photos of Jeff Wirth and Asia Goins. CP at 61. In one posting on the 

Facebook site, Coyle alleged that Goins engaged in sexual conduct with her son. On 

December 2, 2013, Marlo Coyle filed a complaint with the State of Washington Office of 

the Family and Children's Ombuds. She alleged that Asia Goins engaged in 

unprofessional conduct when he referred B.J.C. to Spokane Therapist. 

On December 13, 20 13, the trial court's court commissioner, in the CHINS 

petition suit, found Marlo Coyle in contempt for willful violation of an order prohibiting 
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her from having contact with B.J.C.'s placement custodians absent a true emergency. 

The court commissioner also stated in its order: 

The court is close to ordering that [Coyle] is deemed a vexatious 
litigant. The mother cannot file any additional motions (including any 
petition) until she has provided proof from her medical [doctor] that she is 
unable to take [mental] health medications based upon her medical 
condition. 

CP at 25. The "medical condition" referred to by the court was a heart condition. Report 

of Proceedings (RP) at 46. After a CHINS hearing, Marlo Coyle stated in the courthouse 

hall that she would file a complaint against the court commissioner, and she yelled that 

Asia Goins was a child molester. 

On January 10, 2014, Asia Goins resigned from DCFS. Goins' DCFS supervisor 

then informed him: "Had you not resigned, the current investigation against you would 

have continued and if allegations were substantiated, I would have sought to impose 

appropriate discipline." CP at 34. On February 13, 2014, the family and children's 

ombudsman informed Marlo Coyle that it substantiated her complaint and found that 

Asia Goins engaged in unprofessional conduct when referring B.J.C. to Spokane 

Therapist. On February 26, 2014, B.J.C. dismissed his CHINS petition and returned to 

Coyle's home. 
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PROCEDURE 

On March 5, 2014, Marlo Coyle filed, on behalf ofB.J.C., a petition for a sexual 

assault protection order against Asia Goins. The trial court's order denying this petition 

is the order on review before this appeals court. 

In her petition for a protection order, Marlo Coyle asserted four principal 

allegations of sexual misconduct toward her son by Asia Goins. First, during the CHINS 

petition, Goins followed B.J.C. into the bathroom at the courthouse, poked his head over 

the stall in which B.J.C. stood, and asked to see B.J.C. 's penis. Second, Goins appeared 

at one ofB.J.C.'s urology appointments and refused to leave until asked by B.J.C. in the 

presence of a doctor. Third, Goins approached B.J.C. at a coffee shop and asked if he 

"would be interested in getting 'into things w/another man.'" CP at 3-4. Goins informed 

B.J.C. that this contact would be experimental, rather than homosexual in nature. B.J.C. 

replied that he liked girls. Fourth, on one occasion, Goins caressed B.J.C.'s face and the 

back of his head, and, on another occasion, Goins kissed B.J.C.'s forehead. As part of 

the petition, Coyle declared that B.J.C. feared for his safety and dreaded seeing a 

psychologist becl[luse of Goins' actions. Coyle also averred: "I fear because of the 

corruption in this case I will be retaliated against harassed & am in fear of what this man 

is capable of." CP at 4. In addition to filing the petition, Marlo Coyle reported Asia 

Goins to the police. 

On March 5, 2014, the trial court granted a temporary sexual assault protection 
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order and scheduled a hearing for a permanent protection order on March 18, 20 14. The 

order named B.J.C. as the protected party and appointed Coyle as B.J.C. 's guardian ad 

litem for the proceeding. On March 14, 2014, Asia Goins filed a declaration in response 

to Coyle's petition. Goins denied all allegations against him and attacked Coyle's 

credibility based on her litigious past. Goins filed several exhibits showing that Coyle, 

under her current name and pseudonyms, Marlo Bailey and Marlo Colten, filed, since 

1996, twenty-one petitions for anti-harassment or sexual assault protection orders. Most 

of the prior petitions alleged sexual misconduct by various respondents. 

On March 18, 2014, the trial court conducted a hearing on Marlo Coyle's petition 

for a permanent sexual assault protection order against Asia Goins. Coyle objected to the 

timing of the filing of Asia Goins' declaration and requested a continuance. In the 

alternative, Coyle asked that the court strike the declaration as untimely. The trial court 

denied Coyle's requests by noting that a party responding to a protection order 

proceeding need not abide by a rigid deadline and may provide evidence the day of a 

hearing without providing prior notice to the petitioner. Goins moved the court to 

dismiss Coyle's petition on the ground that the allegations, even if true, did not support 

relief under Washington's sexual assault protection order act. The trial court denied 

Goins' motion. 

During the March 18 hearing, Marlo Coyle, acting as B.J.C.'s guardian ad litem, 

argued that the court should issue a sexual assault protection order because Asia Goins 
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"groomed" B.J.C. Coyle claimed that Goins had no reason to attend B.J.C.'s urology 

appointment, that Goins attempted to isolate B.J.C. by helping him change counselors, 

and that B.J.C. told her he fears being killed or kidnapped by Goins. 

During the petition hearing, Marlo Coyle repeatedly entreated the trial court to 

allow B.J.C. to testify or to speak with B.J.C. in chambers. The trial court denied the 

request. During the hearing, the trial court repeatedly inquired of Coyle whether B.J.C. 

would confirm the statements uttered by Coyle concerning the conduct of Asia Goins, for 

which she brought the petition. Coyle confirmed that B.J.C. would so testify. 

During the March 18 hearing, Asia Goins stated that he last interfaced with B.J .C. 

in November 2013. Goins emphasized Coyle's history of filing similar petitions for 

protection orders against people with whom she had conflict. Goins accentuated the 

December 13 contempt order prohibiting Coyle from filing any additional motions in the 

CHINS proceeding until she verified with her physician that her heart condition 

prevented her from ingesting mental health medications. Goins requested that the trial 

court review, in advance, any future motions or petitions Coyle wished to file. 

During the March 18 hearing, the astute trial court allowed Marlo Coyle liberty to 

speak about her concerns. Instead of focusing on alleged misconduct of Asia Goins, 

Coyle extensively complained about DSHS and its handling ofB.J.C.'s CHINS petition. 

Coyle promoted herself as a good parent and functioning member of the Spokane 

community. Coyle faulted DSHS and the juvenile court system for granting her son's 
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CHINS petition. According to Coyle, she disciplined B.J.C. for drinking alcohol. In 

response, her son filed the petition to avoid the consequences of his behavior, and the 

government believed his untruths that she abused and neglected him. 

The trial court denied Marlo Coyle's petition against Asia Goins for a sexual 

assault protection order. The trial court explained: 

There's no basis whatsoever here for the Court to grant the request 
that Ms. Coyle has presented to the Court. There's clearly been no sexual 
touching of the child by Mr. Goins whatsoever. There's no-there's been 
no touching of his private bodily parts, either under his clothing or outside 
of his clothing. It's not even alleged in the declaration that was filed in any 
way. 

As best as I can tell from the pleadings that were filed, and that's 
what I have to base my conclusion on, there's really been no inappropriate 
touching at all, except a suggestion that perhaps Mr. Goins caressed the 
child or an allegation which he vehemently denies that he kissed the child 
in some fashion. Frankly, the request for a sexual assault protection order 
is completely nonmeritorious, and it doesn't comply with the statute in any 
way. 

RP at 71. The trial court identified an agenda of Marlo Coyle against anyone who has the 

audacity to disagree with her. The trial court remarked: 

[T]here is just no question in my mind today that the action that's 
been filed by Ms. Coyle in terms of this request for a sexual assault 
protection order was filed by her as a retaliatory action. 

RP at 76. 

The trial court declared Marlo Coyle a vexatious litigator and prohibited her from 

filing any pleadings, during the next two years, in any Spokane County court without 

permission of the court. The trial court reviewed attachments to Asia Goins' declaration 
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that listed the other twenty-one petitions filed by Coyle and included some of the 

pleadings in the other petition proceedings. In its ruling, the trial court mentioned the 

other petitions. Nevertheless, the court found the petition against Asia Goins by itself 

vexatious since Coyle filed the petition to retaliate against Goins because of his work as a 

DCFS case manager in B.J.C.'s CHINS proceeding. The trial court also restrained Coyle 

from harassing, intimidating, retaliating against, or disturbing the peace of Asia Goins or 

contacting him. The trial court imposed CR 11 sanctions on Coyle in the amount of 

$1,200 to cover Asia Goins' attorney fees. 

LAW AND ANALYSIS 

Issue 1: Whether the trial court erred by admitting evidence of Marlo Coyle's 

previous petitions for protection orders? 

Answer 1: No. 

Marlo Coyle first contends that the trial court erred in admitting evidence of her 

multiple past attempts to obtain protection orders against other individuals. Asia Goins 

attached the orders and related documentation to his responsive pleadings. We note that 

the trial court did not expressly admit the orders as exhibits. Nevertheless, Goins 

mentioned the orders during the hearing argument, and the trial court reviewed the 

orders. The trial court referenced Marlo Coyle's other litigation during its ruling. 

Therefore, we proceed a5 if the trial court formally admitted the prior petitions as 

evidence. 
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Marlo Coyle argues that the statute governing sexual assault protection orders 

prohibits a court from considering the prior sexual activity or the reputation of the 

petitioner. She maintains that her filing other petitions is irrelevant to the question of 

whether Asia Goins inappropriately sexually groomed B.J.C. Asia Goins contends that 

B.J.C. was the petitioner, not Coyle, and therefore the statute provides Coyle no 

protection from evidence of her reputation as a potentially vexatious litigant. 

In 2006, the Washington legislature adopted the sexual assault protection order 

act. The legislature recognized sexual assault as a heinous crime that goes underreported. 

RCW 7.90.005. The legislature desired a mechanism for victims to obtain an order of 

protection against the perpetrator in instances when the prosecutor declines charges. 

RCW 7.90.005. The state legislature noted that often times the victim does not qualify 

for a domestic violence protection order, because the perpetrator is not a relative. RCW 

7.90.005. The act allows a minor child between the ages of sixteen and eighteen years 

old to file a petition on his or her own. RCW 7.90.040(2). However, a person may file a 

petition on behalf of any minor child alleging a need for protection from the conduct 

covered by the act. RCW 7.90.030(l)(b)(i). No reported decisions address the act. 

RCW 7.90.080, a section of the sexual assault protection order act, controls Marlo 

Coyle's first assignment of error. The statute provides, in relevant part: 

( 1) In proceedings for a sexual assault protection order ... the prior 
sexual activity or the reputation of the petitioner is inadmissible except: 
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(a) As evidence concerning the past sexual conduct of the petitioner 
with the respondent when this evidence is offered by the respondent upon 
the issue of whether the petitioner consented to the sexual conduct with 
respect to which the offense is alleged. 

(Emphasis added.) This statute echoes, in part, Washington's rape shield statute, RCW 

9A.44.020(2), which prohibits evidence of the alleged rape victim's sexual history or 

reputation. The latter statute reads, in pertinent part: 

2) Evidence of the victim's past sexual behavior including but not 
limited to the victim's marital history, divorce history, or general reputation 
for promiscuity, nonchastity, or sexual mores contrary to community 
standards is inadmissible on the issue of credibility and is inadmissible to 
prove the victim's consent. ... 

We conclude that the evidentiary bar ofRCW 7.90.080 does not apply for three 

reasons. First, assuming RCW 7. 90.080 applies to a parent suing on behalf of a child, 

Asia Goins did not submit evidence of Marlo Coyle's prior sexual activity or reputation. 

Second, the petitioner sought to be protected by the sexual assault protection order act 

shield statute is the victim, not the parent filing the petition on behalf of the victim. 

Third, although the evidence of Coyle's other petitions was irrelevant to whether Asia 

Goins engaged in sexual misconduct, the evidence was relevant to Goins' request for 

sanctions and restraints on further petitions because of Coyle's history of vexatious 

litigation. 

We note that Asia Goins did not provide evidence of Coyle's sexual activity or 

reputation, but rather submitted evidence of prior petitions filed by Coyle against others. 
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RCW 7.90.080 excludes evidence of"the prior sexual activity or the reputation of the 

petitioner." The "reputation," to which the statute refers, would be the victim's 

reputation for unchastity or promiscuity. None of the evidence submitted by Asia Goins 

qualifies for this exclusion. 

RCW 7 .90.0 1 0(2). the definition section of the sexual assault protection order act, 

defines "petitioner" as "any named petitioner for the sexual assault protection order or 

any named victim of non consensual sexual conduct or non consensual sexual penetration 

on whose behalf the petition is brought." (Emphasis added.) This definition is in the 

disjunctive and distinguishes between a petitioner who is a victim and any other named 

petitioner. Thus, the definition should encompass a parent who files the petition on 

behalf of her child at least for most purposes. 

RCW 7.90.080 contains tempering language as to who qualifies as a "petitioner" 

for purposes of the evidentiary shield. The statute again reads: 

(I) In proceedings for a sexual assault protection order ... the prior 
sexual activity or the reputation of the petitioner is inadmissible except: 

(a) As evidence concerning the past sexual conduct of the petitioner 
with the respondent when this evidence is offered by the respondent upon 
the issue of whether the petitioner consented to the sexual conduct with 
respect to which the offense is alleged. 

The additional language in subsection (a) ofRCW 7.90.080(1) establishes a purpose of 

protecting the victim of the sexual assault, not a parent who files the petition. Statutory 

language is to be interpreted in context, considering related provisions, and the statutory 

12 



No. 32418-4-111 
Coyle v. Goins 

scheme as a whole. In reMarriage o[Chando/a, 180 Wn.2d 632,648, 327 P.3d 644 

(2014); Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass 'n, 169 Wn.2d 516, 526, 243 P.3d 1283 

(2010). We interpret statutes so as to advance the legislative purpose. State v. Walls, 106 

Wn. App. 792, 795,25 P.3d 1052 (2001). Thus, we hold that RCW 7.90.080 provides no 

protection for a parent filing a petition on behalf of a child. We note, however, that 

evidence of the parent's sexual history or reputation may otherwise rarely be admitted on 

grounds of relevance. But, again, Asia Goins did not introduce evidence of Marlo 

Coyle's sexual history or reputation. 

The trial court ruled that Asia Goins did not engage in sexual misconduct defined 

by the sexual assault protection order act. In so ruling, the trial court did not rely on 

evidence of Marlo Coyle's other petitions for protection. The trial court held that Coyle's 

evidence, even if accepted as true, fell short of sexual touching. The trial court relied on 

evidence of other petitions for protection only when ruling that Coyle engaged in 

vexatious litigation. 

Evidence irrelevant for one purpose may be relevant for another purpose. In re 

Det. of West, 171 Wn.2d 383, 398,256 P.3d 302 (2011). Equity affords a remedy by way 

of an injunction against suits which are vexatious and oppressive. Bode neck v. Cater's 

Motor Freight System, Inc., 198 Wash. 21, 30, 86 P.2d 766 (1939); Burdick v. Burdick, 

148 Wash. 15, 23,267 P. 767 (1928). Courts recognize the need for preapproval of a 

litigious party's filing of new lawsuits because of the party's long history of filing suits. 
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Sajir v. United States Lines Inc., 792 F.2d 19,23-24 (2d Cir. 1986); Kissi v. United States 

Dep't of Justice, 793 F. Supp. 2d 233,234 n.l (D.D.C. 2011); Smith v. Educ. People, 

Inc., 233 F.R.D. 137, 138-39 (S.D.N.Y. 2005); Am. Int'l Specialty Lines Ins. Co. v. Triton 

Energy Ltd., 52 S.W.3d 337,340 (Tex. App. 2001). In order to enter such an order, the 

court must know about prior suits, thereby making evidence of the earlier suits relevant. 

Marlo Coyle broadly asserts that RCW 7.90.080 specifically prohibits judges from 

considering inappropriate or irrelevant evidence. We agree that the trial court should not 

permit inappropriate or irrelevant evidence, but disagree that RCW 7.90.080 supports 

such a prohibition. Other rules prohibit introduction and use of inappropriate or 

irrelevant evidence. Nevertheless, Coyle does not identify evidence, other than her prior 

petitions, that the trial court should have ignored, nor does she cite any rule of evidence 

or case law supporting inadmissibility of other evidence. 

Issue 2: Whether the trial court erred in not allowing B.J.C. to testify? 

Answer 2: No. 

Marlo Coyle next contends that the trial court erred by refusing to hear testimony 

from B.J.C. regarding the allegations in the petition his mother prepared. Coyle argues 

that, because B.J.C., at age sixteen, could have filed the petition on his own, the 

legislature must have intended that a sixteen year old attend the protection order hearing 

and present his side of the facts. 

RCW 7 .90.040{2) provides: "A person under eighteen years of age who is sixteen 
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years of age or older may seek relief under this chapter and is not required to seek relief 

by a guardian or next friend." Although B.J.C. was sixteen years old at the filing of this 

petition and could have filed the petition on his own, Marlo Coyle filed on his behalf. In 

tum, the trial court appointed Coyle to act as B.J.C.'s guardian ad litem in this proceeding 

as authorized by RCW 7.90.040(4). As B.J.C.'s temporary guardian ad litem, Coyle had 

the responsibility to represent B.J.C.'s best interests, maintain independence and 

professionalism, and appear at the hearing on his behalf. GALR I, 2(a), 2(b), 2(c), and 

4(e). 

Marlo Coyle identifies no statute, law, or rule that requires a court to allow a 

guardian ad litem to call the minor party she represents to testify. RCW 7.90.040(2) 

imposes no duty on a court to question a minor in a proceeding for a protection order 

under the statute. The opposite is also true. No statute, law, or rule authorizes the trial 

court to exclude, from testifying, a sixteen year old alleged victim. Nevertheless, under 

RCW 2.28.010, "[e]very court of justice has power ... [t]o provide for the orderly 

conduct of proceedings before it or its officers." The trial court holds broad discretion in 

controlling its courtroom, including the examination of witnesses. State v. Dye, 170 Wn. 

App. 340, 344, 283 P.3d 1130 (2012), aff'd, 178 Wn.2d 541, 309 P.3d 1192 (2013). 

Whereas a trial court should be reluctant to limit witnesses with relevant 

knowledge to the claims in litigation, Marlo Coyle informed the trial court that, ifB.J.C. 

testified, he would confirm her allegations. She never stated that B.J.C. would describe 
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additional details beyond her allegations in order to supply proof of sexual conduct under 

the sexual assault protection order act. Thus, we hold the trial court did not abuse his 

discretion in denying testimony from B.J.C. The trial court may have entertained 

B.J.C.'s best interests by excluding him from testifying. 

Issue 3: Whether the trial court misapplied RCW 7.90.010(4)(d) in determining 

whether the acts asserted by Marlo Coyle constituted nonconsensual sexual conduct? 

Answer 3: No. 

Marlo Coyle argues that the trial court erred in ruling that the alleged acts 

contained within B.J.C.'s petition for a protection order did not constitute nonconsensual 

sexual conduct as defined by RCW 7.90.010. Coyle argues that the trial court only 

considered whether Asia Goins assaulted or touched B.J.C. and did not consider whether 

Goins engaged in other "sexual conduct" that would warrant a sexual assault protection 

order. In particular, she maintains Goins' request to see B.J.C. 's genitals meets the 

statutory definition of "sexual conduct." Goins contends that this allegation, even if 

accepted as true, does not qualify under the statute's definition of sexual conduct. We 

agree with Goins. 

Under the sexual assault protection order act, a party must show the "existence of 

nonconsensual sexual conduct or nonconsensual sexual penetration." RCW 7.90.020(1). 

The petitioner holds the burden of proving the need for the order by a preponderance of 

the evidence. RCW 7.90.090(4). The act defines "sexual conduct" in pertinent part as: 
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(a) Any intentional or knowing touching or fondling of the genitals, 
anus, or breasts, directly or indirectly, including through clothing; 

(b) Any intentional or knowing display of the genitals, anus, or 
breasts for the purposes of arousal or.sexual gratification of the respondent; 

(c) Any intentional or knowing touching or fondling of the genitals, 
anus, or breasts, directly or indirectly, including through clothing, that the 
petitioner is forced to perform by another person or the respondent; 

(d) Any forced display of the petitioner's genitals, anus, or breasts 
for the purposes of arousal or sexual gratification of the respondent or 
others ... 

RCW 7.90.010(4) (emphasis added). 

Marlo Coyle argues that the courtroom bathroom incident alleged in her petition 

qualifies as "sexual conduct" because Asia Goins stood in a position of authority in a 

place of authority, the courthouse. Still there remains no evidence that the incident, if 

presumed to be true, meets the statutory definition of sexual conduct. Coyle does not 

allege that B.J.C. displayed his genitals to Goins. Coyle claimed other incidents of Goins 

touching and kissing B.J.C., but the statute covers only touching of genitals, the anus or 

breasts. 

Issue 4: Whether the trial court erred in declaring Marlo Coyle a vexatious 

litigant and controlling her ability to seek protection orders for two years? 

Answer 4: No. 

Marlo Coyle last contends that the trial court erred in finding her a vexatious 

litigant and requiring her to seek the court's approval before bringing any future motions 

or petitions before the court. She argues that her bringing the petition on B.J.C.'s behalf 
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does not make her a vexatious litigant because there was corroboration for her story. By 

asserting this argument, Coyle may confuse frivolous litigation with vexatious litigation. 

The trial court did not find her lawsuit to be frivolous. 

Although a lawsuit may be both frivolous and vexatious, frivolous litigation 

emphasizes the lack of merits in a suit, whereas vexatious litigation underlines the 

retaliatory nature of the litigation. Although there is undoubtedly an overlap in the 

meaning of the two words, the term "vexatious" embraces the distinct concept of being 

brought for the purpose of irritating, annoying, or tormenting the opposing party. United 

States v. Heavrin, 330 F.3d 723, 729 (6th Cir. 2003). The word "frivolous'' connotes 

filing a lawsuit, without bad faith or a wrong motive, but which lacks foundation or a 

basis for belief that it might prevail. United States v. Heavrin, 330 F.3d at 729 (6th Cir. 

2003). 

Washington's civil rules exist "to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive 

determination of every action." CR I. Likewise, RCW 2.28.010(3) provides: "Every 

court of justice has power .... To provide for the orderly conduct of proceedings before it 

or its officers." In furtherance of these aims, our supreme court has long recognized that 

a court may equitably enjoin a party from bringing litigation that the court has found to 

be vexatious or oppressive. Bodeneck v. Cater's Motor Freight Sys. Inc., 198 Wash. at 

30 (1939); Burdickv. Burdick, 148 Wash. at 23 (1928). A person possesses no absolute 

and unlimited constitutional right of access to courts. A person only possesses a 

18 



No. 32418-4-111 
Coyle v. Goins 

reasonable right of access or a reasonable opportunity to be heard. In reMarriage of 

Giordano, 57 Wn. App. 74, 77, 787 P.2d 51 (1990). We review a trial court's order 

limiting a party's access to the court for an abuse of discretion. Bay v. Jensen, 147 Wn. 

App. 641, 657, 196 P.3d 753 (2008). 

Marriage of Giordano, 57 Wn. App. 74 is illustrative. After negotiating a 

settlement agreement, incorporated by reference into the final divorce decree, Marjorie 

Giordano filed multiple motions to enforce or amend the final decree, potentially 

involving all thirty nine of King County's superior court judges. The trial court issued 

multiple restraining orders, including a moratorium on all motions until trial on a separate 

issue in the case. The moratorium lasted four months, during which time Giordano filed 

twelve additional motions. Finally back at trial, a prose Giordano presented five more 

motions. The "exasperated" trial court found Giordano "unduly litigious" and "extremely 

aggressive" and sanctioned her $500. Giordano argued on appeal that the trial court 

denied her access to the courts by the four-month moratorium. While this court could 

'have affirmed on the grounds. that Giordano could point to no prejudice that she suffered 

as a result of the moratorium, we chose to address the merits of the case. We noted the 

right of access to the courts assumed that litigation would proceed in good faith and 

comply with court rules. We upheld the trial court's moratorium on the ground that it did 

not completely deny Giordano access to the courts, but rather delayed hearing for an 

efficient resolution of issues. 
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Ample evidence supported our trial court's conclusion that Marlo Coyle engaged 

in vexatious litigation. Coyle's presentation at trial showed that her true motive in suing 

Asia Goins was his role in her son's CHINS petition. Marlo Coyle had previously filed 

over twenty one petitions for protection orders against others with whom she had 

differences. The trial court noted the extensive online denigration campaign Coyle 

maintained against Goins and other DCFS providers. The trial court's conditions on 

Coyle's ability to file future motions or petitions do not completely deny Coyle access to 

the courts, but rather require its approval before she may file any future motions or 

petitions. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in declaring Coyle a vexatious 

litigant and limiting her future participation in the court. 

Marlo Coyle also complains about the trial court's imposing CR 11 sanctions and 

restraining her from continuing an online Face book besmirching campaign against Asia 

Goins. Coyle provides no argument addressing the sanctions or restraints. RAP 

10.3(a)(6) directs each party to supply, in her brief, "argument in support of the issues 

presented for review, together with citations to legal authority and references to relevant 

parts of the record." We do not consider conclusory arguments that are unsupported by 

citation to authority. Joy v. Dep,t of Labor & Indus., 170 Wn. App. 614, 629, 285 P.3d 

187 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1021,297 P.3d 708 (2013). Passing treatment of 

an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration. West 

v. Thurston County, 168 Wn. App. 162, 187,275 P.3d 1200 (2012) (quotingHo//andv. 
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City ofTacoma, 90 Wn. App. 533,538,954 P.2d 290 (1998)). Therefore, we decline to 

address this assignment of error. 

Issue 5: Whether this reviewing court should award reasonable attorney fees and 

costs incurred on appeal to Asia Goins against Marlo Coyle? 

Answer 5: No. 

Asia Goins requests appellate attorney fees and costs pursuant to RAP 18.9(a) on 

the ground that Marlo Coyle's appeal is frivolous. Coyle contends Goins is not entitled 

to fees or costs because of debatable issues she presents on appeal. We agree with Coyle 

and deny Goins fees and costs. 

RAP 18.9(a) provides, in relevant part: 

The appellate court on its own initiative or on motion of a party may 
order a party or counsel ... who ... files a frivolous appeal, or fails to 
comply with these rules to pay terms or compensatory damages to any other 
party who has been harmed by the delay or the failure to comply ... 

This court abides by the following considerations when determining whether an appeal is 

frivolous: 

(1) A civil appellant has a right to appeal under RAP 2.2; (2) all 
doubts as to whether the appeal is frivolous should be resolved in favor of 
the appellant; (3) the record should be considered as a whole; (4) an appeal 
that is affirmed simply because the arguments are rejected is not frivolous; 
(5) an appeal is frivolous if there are no debatable issues upon which 
reasonable minds might differ, and it is so totally devoid of merit that there 
was no reasonable possibility of reversal. 
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Streater v. White, 26 Wn. App. 430,435,613 P.2d 187 (1980); see also Griffin v. Draper, 

32 Wn. App. 611, 616, 649 P.2d 123 (1982). 

The question of whether Marlo Coyle's appeal is frivolous is a close call, so we 

resolve the question in Coyle's favor. Coyle's argument concerning the court denying 

permission of her son to testify has limited merit, since a trial court should infrequently 

exclude a witness with percipient knowledge. Coyle's argument concerning the 

construction ofRCW 7.90.090 may be weak, but no reported decision has construed the 

statute. 

One may wonder why we affirm the trial court's grant of sanctions against Marlo 

Coyle for vexatious litigation, but deny Asia Goins fees and costs of appeal. These 

dissimilar rulings illustrate the difference between vexatious litigation and frivolous 

litigation. 

CONCLUSION 

We affirm the trial court's review of prior protection order petitions filed by Marlo 

Coyle and the trial court's exclusion ofB.J.C. as a witness. We also affirm the trial 

court's dismissal of Coyle's petition for a protective order and the trial court's declaration 

of Marlo Coyle as filing a vexatious suit. We deny Asia Goins an award of reasonable 

attorney fees and costs on appeaL 

A majority of the panel has determined this opinion will not be printed in the 
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Washington Appellate Reports, but it will be filed for public record pursuant to RCW 

2.06.040. 

WE CONCUR: 

Siddoway, C.J. 

c ... . ., ' .. ' !. • ~v.r.':t .~ 
.. LaV\;-en<;C-Berrey, J. - J 
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